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          1  ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT

          2                 CHAIRPERSON O'DONOVAN: Good

          3  afternoon, and welcome to the Economic Development

          4  Committee. I am Jerome O'Donovan, the Chairman from

          5  Staten Island. Next to me I have Councilwoman

          6  Eldridge from Manhattan. And other Council members

          7  are downstairs and they will be here shortly. If you

          8  want to testify, please sign in with the

          9  Sergeant-At-Arms. We apologize for the lack of air

         10  conditioning, the air conditioning is broken, but

         11  they are fixing it, and I don't know if it will be

         12  fixed before we adjourn this hearing, but they are

         13  fixing it.

         14                 As Chair of the Economic Development

         15  Committee I am happy to announce that after nearly a

         16  decade of stagnation, New York City is finally

         17  confronting the problems associated with rapid

         18  economic growth. Because we are creating jobs at a

         19  record pace, the price of commercial and industrial

         20  space in the central business district is

         21  sky-rocketing. Last year rents increased by 37

         22  percent in Midtown South and 18 percent in downtown.

         23  Rising prices and general lack of commercial and

         24  industrial space is having a negative impact on

         25  small businesses.
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          2                 Rents are also rising in the

          3  outerboroughs, prime space in Long Island City is

          4  renting for as much as $10 per square foot. In

          5  Brooklyn, the Brooklyn-wide vacancy rate for

          6  industrial space dropped to only 11 percent in 1998.

          7  In Staten Island, my borough, several hundred

          8  companies looking for industrial space have been

          9  turned away because there just hasn't been enough

         10  well-developed space in the borough.

         11                 While rising rents is a symptom of

         12  the robustness of our economy, clearly we have

         13  reached the point where our economic expansion will

         14  falter, unless the City can find a way to increase

         15  its stock of quality, commercial and industrial

         16  space.

         17                 We are here today to find ways that

         18  the City can help its hi-tech businesses keep

         19  expanding. Hi-tech businesses. One possibility that

         20  has been raised is the creation of hi-tech districts

         21  in the outer boroughs. This policy raises many

         22  questions, questions of financing and location,

         23  support services and transportation so that we hope

         24  our distinguished panel will help us sort out today.

         25                 I now would like to call these
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          2  distinguished members. I would like to call on

          3  Stephen Forte and Antoinette Molodowitz and Savona

          4  Bailey McClain.

          5                 Welcome. Good afternoon. Would you

          6  state your names for the record, please.

          7                 MS. BAILEY McCLAIN: Good afternoon.

          8  Savona Bailey McClain.

          9                 MS. MOLODOWITZ: Good afternoon. Toni

         10  Malodowitz.

         11                 MR. FORTE: Good afternoon, Stephen

         12  Forte.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON O'DONOVAN: Good. Savona,

         14  I guess you can speak first and we will go that way.

         15                 As you give your testimony, speak

         16  into the microphone, please.

         17                 MS. BAILEY McCLAIN: Good afternoon.

         18  My name is Savona Bailey McClain, and I am the

         19  Director of the West Harlem Art Fund. We are a

         20  community-based not-for-profit organization that

         21  sponsors and supports Arts in the Park and Art in

         22  Open Public Spaces, throughout West Harlem and

         23  Washington Heights. Our organization also manages

         24  two gallery locations as a community partner with

         25  Columbia University Health Sciences Division and the
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          2  Audubon Biomedical Technology Triangle Park.

          3                 I am a strong advocate of bringing

          4  high technology start-ups and established companies

          5  to Northern Manhattan, particularly film and

          6  television-related businesses, both independent and

          7  large motion picture companies are looking for

          8  smaller companies to handle their special effects,

          9  animation, robotic and graphic imaging. There is

         10  plenty of space in Northern Manhattan to house such

         11  industries. The areas I wish to concentrate on are

         12  in West Harlem near 126th Street and Amsterdam

         13  Avenue, between Amsterdam and Convent Avenue, on St.

         14  Nicholas Avenue and Audubon Avenue in Washington

         15  Heights and up and down Amsterdam Avenue near City

         16  College, between 141st and 145th Street.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON O'DONOVAN: Is that an

         18  industrial area?

         19                 MS. BAILEY McCLAIN: Some are. The one

         20  on Amsterdam Avenue at 126th Street where the Tastee

         21  Factory is and the old Fervolt area, that is

         22  industrial area.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON O'DONOVAN: Okay. Go

         24  ahead.

         25                 MS. BAILEY McCLAIN: Okay.
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          2                 The one thing I am concerned about is

          3  that funds are needed to properly wire and develop

          4  the infrastructure for T1 and T3 lines and video

          5  telecommunications for the entire area for

          6  commercial businesses only.

          7                 There was a grant that was approved

          8  of where community school board 5 received funds

          9  from Bell Atlantic and I believe another software

         10  company, but we really need this for commercial

         11  businesses only.

         12                 I also would like to state that

         13  Northern Manhattan residents, businesses and

         14  institutions, both civic and cultural, must be able

         15  to participate in this new development. Partnerships

         16  can be developed outside of the empowerment zone

         17  confines and we need to help both of the economy for

         18  our diverse community, and I would like to say we

         19  are proud to be a part of Northern Manhattan. A lot

         20  of times think we are an outer borough as well, but

         21  we are not, we are part of Manhattan.

         22                 Thank you.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON O'DONOVAN: You ought to

         24  hear what we have to go through on Staten Island.

         25                 Now, you are aware obviously that
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          2  Manhattan actually is the primary recipient of a

          3  hi-tech, an area of hi-tech on Broad Street, which

          4  is really expanding, the hi-tech business down

          5  there, Silicon Alley, as opposed to Silicon Valley

          6  in California. You are saying that even though that

          7  is moving quickly and has the benefits of that

          8  particular district, you will want to see it

          9  expanded throughout the Borough of Manhattan.

         10                 MS. BAILEY McCLAIN: Not only that.

         11  Just one note, those buildings in lower Manhattan,

         12  those are pre-century buildings, so those are old

         13  buildings where they never thought about wiring or

         14  technology, and the buildings in Northern Manhattan,

         15  even though a lot of them are mixed buildings, some

         16  are loft, some are multi-purpose housing, as well as

         17  stores, that can be rewired so we can have a lot of

         18  smaller tech businesses as well.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON O'DONOVAN: Okay, thank

         20  you.

         21                 Ma'am.

         22                 MS. MOLODOWITZ: My name is Toni

         23  Molodowitz, and I am the founder of a company called

         24  Advantageware. We have been in business since 1976,

         25  always in New York City, and we have seen a lot of
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          2  change with the real estate.

          3                 Currently our lease is up at the end

          4  of January and we are now faced with trying to find

          5  reasonable office space for our company.

          6                 We do consulting work in the hi-tech

          7  area, everything from E. commerce (phonetic) to

          8  back, back, back office-type systems for larger

          9  organizations, and we also have some software

         10  products that we sell, shrinkwrap software products

         11  that we sell actually internationally. And at this

         12  juncture we are beginning to do our search for some

         13  office space and we are finding that it is very

         14  expensive, and we want to stay in New York, we want

         15  to remain a New York City company.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON O'DONOVAN: Are you

         17  located in Manhattan?

         18                 MS. MOLODOWITZ: Right now we are at

         19  425 Madison Avenue. That is a long story in how we

         20  got there, but we are there.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON O'DONOVAN: Madison and

         22  what?

         23                 MS. MOLODOWITZ: 49th.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON O'DONOVAN: 49th.

         25                 MS. MOLODOWITZ: Right.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON O'DONOVAN: High rent

          3  district.

          4                 MS. MOLODOWITZ: Well, one must

          5  remember there was a period there was a no-rent

          6  district because all of the buildings were empty, so

          7  we were able to renegotiate a very, very favorable

          8  lease that is now up.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON O'DONOVAN: It is up,

         10  okay.

         11                 MS. MOLODOWITZ: It is up January 31st

         12  the Year 2000, so we are now beginning to look. We

         13  want to stay in New York. What we need is to find

         14  reasonable office space that will allow us to remain

         15  in New York and to grow in New York.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON O'DONOVAN: You mean in

         17  Manhattan?

         18                 MS. MOLODOWITZ: Well, we are open. We

         19  are open. We have been talking to some people in

         20  terms of other areas, what would make them

         21  attractive is basically fully loaded buildings I

         22  call them, you know with the wiring, correct wiring.

         23                 Safety and security is the utmost

         24  importance to me.  As a company owner we work seven

         25  by 24, we have those doors open. Not that everybody
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          2  is there all the time but that is the nature of our

          3  business. We also need to have a community, we can't

          4  be in a place that is so totally isolated, we need

          5  transportation, so we are ready to look.

          6                 I also would be interested in finding

          7  out more about the Upper West Side and those areas

          8  also.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON O'DONOVAN: You are

         10  familiar with downtown too?

         11                 MS. MOLODOWITZ: Oh, absolutely, but

         12  those rents have gone up.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON O'DONOVAN: They have.

         14                 MS. MOLODOWITZ: Yes.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON O'DONOVAN: They have gone

         16  up in all of the boroughs. You are familiar with the

         17  Teleport on Staten Island?

         18                 MS. MOLODOWITZ: Absolutely.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON O'DONOVAN: And Metrotech

         20  in Brooklyn.

         21                 MS. MOLODOWITZ: That's right.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON O'DONOVAN: Okay, thank

         23  you.

         24                 MR. FORTE: Hello. My name is Steve

         25  Forte, I am President and CEO of the Aurora
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          2  Development Group, we have been in business for five

          3  years, business very similar to Toni's that she

          4  described to you, selling custom solutions to many

          5  large organizations.

          6                 We basically just did a move and we

          7  are actually in the process of it as we speak and we

          8  are moving into the Empire State Building, and what

          9  we decided to do because we are a small firm, is go

         10  through an agency that sublets predefined office

         11  space, so they provide the furniture, they provide

         12  the wiring and actually save on commercial real

         13  estate tax as well. So, by subletting we were able

         14  to defer a lot of our costs, and the reason why the

         15  firm that sublet's this particular place in the

         16  Empire State Building makes a lot of money is

         17  because they do it on a month-by-month basis, so

         18  there is no lease. So, if tomorrow my business

         19  doubles, which it very well could, I could basically

         20  say to them I need to get double the office space

         21  and within a couple of weeks they would be able to

         22  get it all in the same building, all in the same

         23  location, all pre-wired, all connected to each

         24  other.

         25                 Toni said when she was moving her
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          2  business she considered outside of Manhattan. I have

          3  to be quite frank with you, we didn't really

          4  consider that option, more because it just never

          5  came up, it was just assumed that we wanted to stay

          6  in Manhattan, and I am very interested in talking

          7  about that today because about 90 percent of our

          8  customer base is right here in Manhattan and in

          9  proximity to those customers, especially when we

         10  have something like, we have a one-hour response

         11  time for the custom software development that we do,

         12  in an outer borough we would have to make sure that

         13  the transportation system can support us. Granted

         14  the one-hour response time is really during 8:00

         15  a.m. to 6:00 p.m., but sometimes they are there

         16  really late. This is an interesting business that we

         17  are all in, and if we relocated to an outerborough,

         18  especially in Brooklyn with that N or the R train or

         19  Staten Island Ferry or what have you, it might take

         20  a much longer time to get in in that one-hour

         21  response time that we pride ourselves on, you know,

         22  might go way up.

         23                 So, that is one of the big factors of

         24  us staying in Manhattan, because we figure if

         25  proximity to clients is important, saving money is
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          2  important too.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON O'DONOVAN: Have you

          4  thought about locating downtown, the downtown

          5  district?

          6                 MR. FORTE: We did think about it, but

          7  the rents are too high.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON O'DONOVAN: Okay. Thank

          9  you very much.

         10                 MR. FORTE: Thank you.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON O'DONOVAN: Yes, one

         12  second please.

         13                 Councilwoman Eldridge.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER ELDRIDGE: I don't

         15  totally understand the concept. You sublet from

         16  somebody who has the lease on the property, at the

         17  Empire State Building, but they have other

         18  properties also so that if your company doubles and

         19  you have additional space needs, they can find you

         20  another place, and since it is all in place you

         21  could just move overnight? Is that basically what

         22  you are saying?

         23                 MR. FORTE: Absolutely. What they do

         24  is provide professional office space for a small

         25  corporation. They also provide office space I think
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          2  at 220 Park, as one of their other areas, the big

          3  Bear Stearns building, they have a few floors there.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER ELDRIDGE: Are they an

          5  independent company that does this?

          6                 MR. FORTE: Absolutely.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER ELDRIDGE: So they are

          8  able to make money on providing office space without

          9  any tax advantages or incentives or anything else. I

         10  mean that is kind of an interesting thing, isn't it?

         11  That they are able to provide this space?

         12                 MR. FORTE: They even do it where you

         13  can go to their Internet site and they have

         14  affiliates around the world, so when I go and visit

         15  clients in London, I can fill out the office space

         16  that I need in London and there is a telephone,

         17  there is a wired computer ready for me right when I

         18  get off, I take a cab from Heathrow right into the

         19  office and I can meet clients at the conference room

         20  and everything.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER ELDRIDGE: Do you know

         22  how much space they have in Manhattan?

         23                 MR. FORTE: I do not.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER ELDRIDGE: What is the

         25  name of the company?
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          2                 MR. FORTE: It is called Forest

          3  Edwards.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER ELDRIDGE: Forest

          5  Edwards.

          6                 Thank you.

          7                 MR. FORTE: Sure.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON O'DONOVAN: One other

          9  thing. Has any of you thought of what type of any

         10  tax incentive at all would be useful to any type of

         11  business or industries that you are familiar with?

         12  Have you thought about that? Look, we are in special

         13  business here, a lot of other businesses get tax

         14  incentives, or if you locate within an EDZ, for

         15  instance, do you get tax incentives, or Downtown

         16  Alliance?

         17                 MS. BAILEY McCLAIN: Well, West Harlem

         18  is a part of the empowerment zone, it is in Upper

         19  Manhattan, and right now, from what I understand

         20  it's a free-for-all, everyone is getting tax breaks

         21  here, there and everywhere. So right now there is

         22  tax incentives for businesses to come up.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON O'DONOVAN: In special

         24  areas of the City?

         25                 MS. BAILEY McCLAIN: Right. But it
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          2  does include the area that I talked about, that a

          3  lot of people are talking about, that is between

          4  Amsterdam, Convent Avenue, up on Broadway into

          5  Washington Heights and the South Bronx. Currently

          6  there is tax incentives.

          7                 One of the things we don't have which

          8  need to be reinforced again is the infrastructure.

          9  There aren't the wiring that is need for the lines

         10  for videotelecommunications that have to be done

         11  first before you can bring people in, and what Steve

         12  was just mentioning, this company that is taking

         13  advantage of office space, well, they are able to do

         14  it because they took care of the wiring. If that was

         15  done in Northern Manhattan, you can actually open

         16  your doors to small businesses who are looking to

         17  move uptown, that makes the economy better for the

         18  entire City, particularly Northern Manhattan, that

         19  has not received a lot of blessings over the last

         20  couple of decades.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON O'DONOVAN: All right, so

         22  what you are saying then is, the infrastructure for

         23  your particular type of business is very, very

         24  important, yet you don't really need in your

         25  particular type of business hi-tech industries to be
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          2  specifically located, everybody, like Silicon Valley

          3  or even Silicon Alley, what we have, you can

          4  actually locate anywhere in the City of New York,

          5  preferably where the business is, which is in

          6  Manhattan, so you are close to the business, but all

          7  you really would need is the infrastructure to go in

          8  to service your type of industry, right?

          9                 Is that what you are saying? I mean,

         10  we are here today to elicit your thoughts and ideas

         11  for maybe setting up a specific area within the

         12  City, and you are saying, yes, it can be done, and

         13  maybe it should be done if the infrastructure is

         14  there and everybody in your specific industry will

         15  go to that particular place. For instance, we have

         16  that now in Manhattan, which is Silicon Alley and

         17  Broad Street, and of course they are old buildings

         18  but they are all being renovated to accompany, you

         19  know, your particular business.

         20                 But the other point that was made was

         21  that you really don't need to go to a specific

         22  place, as long a the infrastructure and the wiring

         23  is done whereby you guys can go in, right?

         24                 MS. BAILEY McCLAIN: It is also

         25  advantageous to set up a district.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON O'DONOVAN: Okay.

          3                 MS. BAILEY McCLAIN: I mean, the City

          4  needs to be developed and there are some depressed

          5  areas, particularly where there are minorities where

          6  we are not benefitting from the boom in the economy.

          7  It really would be important to set up these

          8  technology districts in Northern Manhattan, in the

          9  South Bronx, parts of Staten Island, as well as

         10  Brooklyn, so the entire City benefits from the boom.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON O'DONOVAN: Okay, thank

         12  you very much.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER ELDRIDGE: Mr.

         14  Chairman, what is interesting is that this company

         15  Forest Edwards has done it without, has done it

         16  themselves, and is able evidently to provide space

         17  to you at a price that isn't prohibitive and not

         18  denying you your ability to work.

         19                 MR. FORTE: I think one of their

         20  advantages is that they purchased the T1 lines and

         21  all of that in bulk, and that is an advantage that

         22  the City can do by prewiring, as you point out.

         23  Because what happens is the federal tax, something

         24  we of course have no control over on the T1 line,

         25  and I am assuming that they are working out some
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          2  kind of deal because they have so much business

          3  throughout the United States and Europe, that they

          4  get some kind of break on that tax.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER ELDRIDGE: So, how much

          6  do you pay per square foot?

          7                 MR. FORTE: I pay lower than $25 per

          8  square foot.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER ELDRIDGE: And you

         10  avoid paying some of the taxes that you would have

         11  to pay otherwise?

         12                 MR. FORTE: Absolutely.

         13                 The commercial real estate tax for

         14  being south of 96th Street is much less of a burden

         15  on my corporation. But the real key is the

         16  flexibility, there is no lease, so I am not locked

         17  in. I can leave tomorrow or I can expand tomorrow.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON O'DONOVAN: We are joined

         19  by Councilwoman Clarke, from Brooklyn.

         20                 Councilwoman.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER CLARKE: Mr. Chairman,

         22  thank you for allowing me to come and be on the

         23  record, I am late enough. I am coming from a job

         24  fair in my district, I had two graduations in the

         25  Dutch Reform Church in Flatbush, there was a job
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          2  fair and at the time I was leaving more than 1,800

          3  persons came through that hall looking for work, and

          4  part of what they were talking about is training so

          5  that in the next millennium they will be equipped to

          6  do the kind of work so they were going towards those

          7  industries that they think have a future, rather

          8  than those industries that they thought would end at

          9  the end of this millennium and they were looking

         10  forward, so I am pleased that I came in late at the

         11  end of this, and I heard when one member of your

         12  panel said that in minority communities you need to

         13  take risks because there are a lot of brainpower and

         14  people who want to really move with the times, and

         15  so I am pleased that you are here.

         16                 Thank you very much.

         17                 Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON O'DONOVAN: We are also

         19  joined by Council Member Fisher of Brooklyn.

         20                 Go ahead, Ma'am.

         21                 MS. MOLODOWITZ: The one comment I

         22  would like to add is, companies just don't need the

         23  ability to grow month-by-month, to have a solid

         24  company, especially if you have a tech company, you

         25  make investments in technology yourself, and it is
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          2  important to have a place in a space that you can

          3  afford and maintain your presence, and if you grow,

          4  that's great, so you just have that problem, but you

          5  are able to actually have a space that you can

          6  afford and allow yourself to put technological

          7  investments that you have to make your own company.

          8  And that is one of the problems now, if you have

          9  become a gypsy person where you have to just take

         10  your company from space to space to space, it is

         11  very difficult for a company. Especially if you

         12  develop software products.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON O'DONOVAN: Thank you.

         14  Thank you very much.

         15                 Now we will hear from Tom Knierim,

         16  Long Island City Bus Development Corporation.

         17                 Jonathan Rudes, Newmark and Company,

         18  Kathryn Wylde, New York City Investment Fund, and

         19  Sharon Greenberger, Downtown Alliance.

         20                 Ladies and gentlemen, would you like

         21  to start by introducing yourselves, please. Your

         22  right, my left, and we will go down.

         23                 MR. RUDES: Hi. I am Jonathan Rudes, I

         24  am a Senior Managing Director of Newmark and

         25  Company, a prominent real estate firm in New York
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          2  City.

          3                 MS. GREENBERGER: Sharon Greenberger,

          4  Vice President for Economic Development at the

          5  Alliance for Downtown New York.

          6                 MS. WYLDE: Kathy Wylde, President of

          7  the New York City Investment Fund.

          8                 MR. GALLAGHER: David Gallagher,

          9  Center for Neighborhood Economic Development.

         10                 MR. KNIERIM: Tom Knierim, Long Island

         11  City Business Development Corp.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON O'DONOVAN: Okay, very

         13  good. Sir, we might as well start from you, since

         14  you were first.

         15                 MR. RUDES: Thank you. In 1984, I was

         16  the broker for SIAC (phonetic), when they moved to

         17  Metrotech. I was involved with New York City

         18  Partnership in the creation of the New York

         19  Information Technology Center, and from 1995 to 1996

         20  I was the exclusive agent for the Rudin Organization

         21  in leasing up 55 Broad Street. I also run five of

         22  the plug-n-go buildings. In the last two years we

         23  have represented over 250 technology companies and

         24  rented approximately 300,000 square feet in the

         25  plug-n-go program, and currently we are doing a good
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          2  deal of consulting, actually around the United

          3  States, about creating similar projects, Silicon

          4  Alley types of projects, technology centers, for

          5  many different municipalities, from -- actually we

          6  are looking at Montreal so that is international at

          7  the moment, Montreal, Connecticut, Chicago,

          8  Philadelphia and other places.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON O'DONOVAN: Is 55 Broad

         10  Street 100 percent full?

         11                 MR. RUDES: Probably 105 percent full.

         12  I think they found crevices that no one ever knew

         13  existed.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON O'DONOVAN: And what about

         15  the plug-n-go programs, are they still growing?

         16                 MR. RUDES: In the five buildings,

         17  which represent well over 300,000 square feet, we

         18  have probably 15,000 square feet of space available.

         19  So we are very tight, looking for more buildings,

         20  would love to do it, would love to do it any place

         21  we could find and I am sure we could fill anything

         22  you give us.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON O'DONOVAN: Very good.

         24                 Ma'am.

         25                 MS. GREENBERGER: The Alliance manages
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          2  downtown lower Manhattan's Business Improvement

          3  District, it also manages downtown's information

          4  technology district, which has become an important

          5  physical and community center for the City's growing

          6  hi-tech industries.

          7                 Currently there are more than 700

          8  hi-tech companies located in the technology district

          9  south of Chambers Street.

         10                 I am proud to say that our technology

         11  district was developed as a result of deliberate

         12  strategy and careful nurturing by the Downtown

         13  Alliance and the results of our efforts have

         14  benefitted not only downtown but the City as a

         15  whole.

         16                 Twenty-five percent of the technology

         17  and new media companies that have come to the

         18  technology district over the past four years did not

         19  have previous offices in New York City, and more

         20  than 3,500 new jobs have been created as a result of

         21  our effort.

         22                 I just want to share with you a brief

         23  history of the technology district's development and

         24  some thoughts about its revocability.

         25                 The district was created by the
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          2  Alliance in 1995, in response to the needs of

          3  diversified downtown's economy, making it less

          4  reliant on financial services and transform it into

          5  a 24-hour community.

          6                 As you well know, in 1995 downtown

          7  had a 25 percent vacancy rate, which meant that

          8  there was more 25 million square feet of commercial

          9  vacant space. Most of it in older buildings no

         10  longer suited to modern day financial services.

         11                 The area had lost more than 100,000

         12  jobs between 1987 and 1999, and had become a

         13  financial burden to the City.

         14                 We believed that clustering hi-tech

         15  companies would revitalize downtown and support the

         16  long-term growth of the City's hi-tech industries.

         17  Indeed, the district has helped to transform

         18  downtown into a vibrant community, and I think its

         19  success can be attributed to several factors.

         20                 Eight factors include, the area's

         21  extensive fiberoptic network, the development of the

         22  information technology center at 55 Broad Street,

         23  our own successful Plug-n-Go Program, proximity to

         24  Wall Street, a commercial vacancy rate that could

         25  accommodate the growth of small companies, and the
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          2  development of a growing residential community, they

          3  have all contributed to the success.

          4                 In addition, there is little doubt

          5  that the lower Manhattan revitalization plan

          6  supported by this Council, which provides tax

          7  abatements and energy savings, has been instrumental

          8  in attracting new companies to the area.

          9                 The technology district is home to

         10  hi-tech companies that cover the spectrum - from

         11  one-person shops to small studios, to full-fledged

         12  corporations with hundreds of employees. These

         13  companies can be found in tony Class A space on Wall

         14  Street and in tiny Class C space on Fulton Street.

         15                 All companies in the district I think

         16  in the district benefit from being close to Wall

         17  Street and potential investors and clients.

         18                 Obviously, not every potential

         19  hi-tech development will have the amenities and

         20  features found in Downtown's Technology District.

         21  Nonetheless, I believe there are nine elements that

         22  must be present to create sustainable hi-tech

         23  communities.

         24                 One is affordable rent. Smaller

         25  companies are extremely price-sensitive, and it

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            28

          1  ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT

          2  makes it very difficult to grow in a very hot real

          3  estate market.

          4                 Geographic areas or programs that can

          5  offer below market rents - and work to ensure they

          6  continue to be affordable will be sought out.

          7                 Two is infrastructure. You have heard

          8  it before, access to reliable, affordable

          9  telecommunications infrastructure is essential for

         10  this industry to thrive. Downtown has been very

         11  lucky and hospitable to the growth of this industry

         12  because of its pre-existing fiberoptic network, and

         13  this kind of network is not easily replicated

         14  because of installation costs and because of

         15  business models that rely on existing demand.

         16                 Outside areas I think will need to

         17  work very closely and very innovatively with

         18  telecommunications providers to figure out ways to

         19  bring in infrastructure to outside areas.

         20                 Three is concentration of

         21  Internet-ready buildings, having space available in

         22  several buildings  within close proximity is

         23  essential to give potential tenants options and

         24  build a community. I really believe that one of the

         25  reasons the Plug-n-Go program has been so successful
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          2  is that it provides choice to potential tenants.

          3  Right now there are always five buildings in the

          4  program which means that one person's dream space is

          5  another person's nightmare but there is always

          6  choice.

          7                 Similarly you want a lot of

          8  like-minded companies around you. These are

          9  companies that collaborate, they don't want to be

         10  limited in who their neighbors are and who is coming

         11  in.

         12                 I think that the technology center

         13  has been instrumental in creating a district, it

         14  could not have survived as an island. Bringing in

         15  the Plug-n-Go Program and making sure that a

         16  constant influx of new companies coming in has

         17  really helped it.

         18                 Four is enlightened landlords.

         19  Hi-tech companies have very different needs than

         20  traditional companies. They around-the-clock, they

         21  need cooling systems that work with them. Young

         22  companies want to sign simplified leases that can be

         23  signed without extensive legal review. They want

         24  short-term leases to accommodate growth, their

         25  employees ride bikes to work and want a place to put
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          2  them.

          3                 Landlords that don't or can't embrace

          4  these kinds of needs will not be hi-tech companies

          5  for long. There is a need for enlightenment.

          6                 Five, and again you have heard it

          7  before, is proximity to clients, because so much

          8  work is still done face-to-face, and because hi-tech

          9  companies are constantly pitching their services,

         10  proximity to a viable base of clients and customers

         11  is key, if you are going to identify a particular

         12  area of the hi-tech zone, it will only work if it is

         13  close to a high concentration of potential

         14  customers.

         15                 Six is amenities. As you well know, a

         16  viable working community needs a good transportation

         17  network, after-hour restaurants and business

         18  services, technology companies are open around the

         19  clock and require services that are available 24

         20  hours a day. Company executives make location

         21  decisions based on the kind and contemplation of

         22  services that are within easy walking distance.

         23  Things like taxi stands, office supply stores, good

         24  restaurants that deliver, friendly bars, these are

         25  the things that we hear all of the time and these
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          2  are the reasons that people come downtown.

          3                 Seven is networking and business

          4  development services.

          5                 We realized early on that real estate

          6  programs and services, like the technology center

          7  and Plug-n-Go could attract companies downtown, they

          8  would not necessarily keep them downtown.

          9                 To make the area more attractive over

         10  the long term we initiated several business

         11  development and networking programs, we host monthly

         12  networking events, we host business development

         13  seminars at our offices to provide essential

         14  business services, from tax issues to compensation

         15  issues. We sponsor larger industry events with other

         16  associations and we coordinate an E.mail list serve

         17  for the companies so they can post messages about

         18  their hiring needs, about wanting to play softball

         19  on weekends, whatever it is, there is a way for them

         20  to communicate.

         21                 These kinds of programs and services

         22  are time-consuming and require constant oversight.

         23                 Eight is political will. I think the

         24  technology district grew both organically and by

         25  design, and it could not be the success it is today
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          2  without the political commitment from City and State

          3  officials, local property owners and service

          4  providers.

          5                 You had organizations like the Rudin

          6  folks who came in and Con Ed and Bell Atlantic, who

          7  were willing to make downtown an ongoing priority.

          8  That was essential.

          9                 And number nine, and I alluded to it

         10  before, is ongoing management. Developing and

         11  marketing downtown as the technology district has

         12  taken time and constant attention and enormous

         13  amount of energy goes into managing our programs

         14  promoting the district, educating landlords and

         15  trying to anticipate the future needs of hi-tech

         16  companies. You have to have a long-term commitment,

         17  and a long-term commitment to supplying resources,

         18  and I think without these things you won't be able

         19  to grow successfully.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON O'DONOVAN: Thank you very

         21  much.

         22                 MS. WYLDE: Kathy Wylde with the

         23  Investment Fund. I provided a summary of written

         24  testimony which specifically focuses on the work of

         25  the New York City Investment Fund in the business

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            33

          1  ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT

          2  incubator area, which I think is in fact a potential

          3  borough strategy that may be able to deal with some

          4  of the issues that Sharon raises.

          5                 The Investment Fund was started two

          6  and a half years ago by Henry Cravis and it grew

          7  into the City's leading business and financial

          8  people, we have committed about $25 million to

          9  projects in every sector of the City's economy,

         10  ranging from direct investments and Internet-related

         11  businesses to project and health care, education,

         12  retail, manufacturing and entertainment industry.

         13                 The particular project that I think

         14  is most interesting, it came to a great surprise to

         15  us that we were creating the City's first business

         16  incubator for the new media technology area, when we

         17  got involved in something called the telemedia

         18  accelerator. Our focus was to try and support New

         19  York City, the connection between New York City's

         20  broadcast and cable television industry as they make

         21  a transition to digital high definition television,

         22  their connection with Silicon Alley, so that New

         23  York would in fact be able to take advantage of the

         24  strengths of its old media, marry it up with new

         25  media and we found that the point of connectivity
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          2  weren't there, in terms of the small entrepreneur

          3  with the greatest ideas on the street reaching into

          4  Time Warner and other corporations that are

          5  investors in the fund and we felt we were in a good

          6  position to bridge that gap. And it ended up that we

          7  developed a model facility that we are seeing more

          8  and more applications come in on folks who are

          9  interested in replicating some version of it. So, I

         10  think it is exciting. And it hasn't opened yet, it

         11  is opening in September, it is under construction

         12  now.

         13                 We put $3 million, we closed the loan

         14  in April, into development of the facility. It is

         15  located on the 13th floor of a building known as

         16  Fiederman Hall, which is part of the Borough of

         17  Manhattan Community College Campus. We are putting

         18  up funds to renovate a floor of that building,

         19  actually the Council I think has supported

         20  renovation of creating a virtual library in the

         21  first three floors of the building, which is part of

         22  what gave rise to this, it is in the information

         23  technology district, in fact Sharon brokered our

         24  relationship with Borough of Manhattan Community

         25  College. She knew about their empty floor and that
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          2  we had some resources to develop an incubator.

          3                 Borough of Manhattan Community

          4  College has become a partner in this venture with

          5  ourselves and with two venture capitalists who are

          6  each putting in a million dollars in cash and in

          7  time.

          8                 The facility is entirely privately

          9  funded. Borough of Manhattan Community College is

         10  getting rent at cost, but is taking five percent of

         11  the business and sharing in the upside. What the

         12  business is, and it is important to point out that

         13  this is not a real estate play, what the business is

         14  is the portfolio of companies that are selected and

         15  supported and mentored by the venture capitalist.

         16  Ten to 12 businesses at a time will occupy space

         17  within the company, they will have support services,

         18  access to strategic partnerships with major

         19  corporations, access to venture capital and

         20  professional services for modest payment and a small

         21  stake in the equity of their company coming in.

         22  These will be aimed at young companies, start-up

         23  companies and the object here will be to grow them

         24  and move them out onward and upward as fast as

         25  possible.
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          2                 The two points that I think I want to

          3  make to this group, real estate has been cited --

          4  the Center For An Urban Future, among others, has

          5  recently come out with a survey of small businesses

          6  demonstrating that the cost and availability of real

          7  estate are the number one obstacle barriers to small

          8  businesses that are trying to grow in New York.

          9                 The real estate issue is important,

         10  but much of our economic development policy in real

         11  estate, has been focused on real estate in the past,

         12  there is another component that makes an incubator

         13  successful and it is the reason why the communities

         14  in California or around Stamford and the communities

         15  in Texas and the research triangle have been

         16  successful with growing their technology industries.

         17  In technology, speed to market, access to strategic

         18  partnership is really important, and so one of the

         19  pieces that we have overlooked in New York I think

         20  in the past is not just the real estate problems

         21  that companies here face, but the fact that you can

         22  be across the hall from your best strategic partner

         23  and never meet them. We have a large and complex

         24  City, we don't have an infrastructure that is fueled

         25  in other locations where technology industries have
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          2  thrived, they have successful entrepreneurs who

          3  become the angel investors for the next generation

          4  of companies, we have not developed that

          5  infrastructure, that business infrastructure here.

          6                 So, I would urge you in looking at a

          7  holistic solution that looks at the City's business

          8  infrastructure, how we support emerging companies,

          9  and to look for solutions where you are really

         10  incentivizing, not sort of one off physical models

         11  of non-profit or university incubators that are kind

         12  of stand-alone facilities, but rather facilities

         13  that create incentives on the public sector side,

         14  including the provision and identification of public

         15  space, because I think that is one of the most

         16  important assets right now to bring to the table,

         17  like the space of CUNY.  And we have had proposals

         18  we are looking at now from the College of Staten

         19  Island, and from a number of other institutions and

         20  groups around the City, including some private real

         21  estate owners who would like to participate in this

         22  kind of effort, the kind of incentives we need are

         23  incentives that ensure that private sectors

         24  investors, the venture community and others are

         25  partners in these ventures, so that the government
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          2  investment in the infrastructure can be up front,

          3  but the long range, the support for growing these

          4  businesses and growing these companies must come

          5  from the private sector.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON O'DONOVAN: Okay, very

          7  good. Thank you.

          8                 We are joined by Councilman Golden

          9  from Brooklyn.

         10                 MR. GALLAGHER: Hi. I am David

         11  Gallagher, and I am accompanying Tom Knierim. The

         12  Center for Neighborhood Economic Development and the

         13  Long Island City Business Development Corporation

         14  are collaborating on a project aimed at this

         15  interesting problem. I will summarize my written

         16  testimony.

         17                 Certainly we have a major opportunity

         18  to try and hold onto the fruits of the tremendous

         19  creativity that we are seeing every day in Silicon

         20  Alley. And one of the things that we suggest may be

         21  a resource to hold onto those benefits is

         22  essentially a cost, it is the inventory of vacant or

         23  substantially underutilized loft buildings that we

         24  see in communities like Long Island City. They are

         25  structurally sound, and among other things, the
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          2  space beyond the ground floor is almost unrentable

          3  for a number of purposes, particularly

          4  manufacturing.

          5                 What can we do to bring these

          6  buildings and these neighborhoods into alignment

          7  with the needs of the growing companies of Silicon

          8  Alley. I don't think we know everything yet, but I

          9  think we can suggest several things that might be

         10  worth looking at.

         11                 One is loft buildings as they stand

         12  now don't meet the needs of new companies, so they

         13  may need an infusion of capital to bring

         14  telecommunications, electrical supply, layout and

         15  other things up to the standards of new users and

         16  the financing could be and should be a combination

         17  of public and private financing, with public

         18  financing rewarding private owners who invest in

         19  their own property.

         20                 We would also suggest that reductions

         21  in the cost of doing business, such as energy cost

         22  reduction, tax exemptions, et cetera, may be

         23  necessary to meet competition from nearby

         24  concentrations of hi-tech employment, specifically

         25  New Jersey and Connecticut, both of which have
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          2  highly developed, hi-technology industry complexes.

          3                 We would also suggest specific

          4  reforms to City Assistance Programs, such as in

          5  particular a remedy for the difficulty of using the

          6  ICIP program with large loft buildings may be needed

          7  to target City assistance to the needs of this group

          8  of companies. And finally, improvements in City

          9  services, as for instance, mass transit, may need

         10  implemented early in the life of any attempt to help

         11  the private sector market these lost neighborhoods

         12  as relocation areas for some of the functions of

         13  hi-tech companies from more high cost locations than

         14  Manhattan.

         15                 And I would certainly echo what Kathy

         16  just said, it has to be a partnership. The private

         17  sector knows the marketplace and ultimately the

         18  marketplace will determine what succeeds and what

         19  fails.

         20                 Thank you.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON O'DONOVAN: Thank you very

         22  much. Thank you all for your testimony.

         23                 Did you want to say something, sir?

         24                 MR. KNIERIM: Yes, if you don't mind.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON O'DONOVAN: Please.
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          2                 MR. KNIERIM: Tom Knierim, Executive

          3  Director at Long Island City Business Development

          4  Corporation.

          5                 I would like to just make a couple of

          6  comments. One, I would like to commend the Council

          7  on its timing for this hearing because as Jonathan

          8  began the comments just now, the buildings in

          9  Manhattan, both the organic growth of the technology

         10  industry in the flat iron district, Union Square

         11  area, and then the more planned development, as

         12  Sharon mentioned, in the downtown area, those

         13  companies have grown to such an extent that they are

         14  basically outgrowing the buildings that are

         15  available for them. The companies are now looking

         16  for other places to go and they have several

         17  alternatives, one is I guess to go to more expensive

         18  space in Manhattan, or to try and go to some of the

         19  outlying areas of Manhattan, the far reaches of

         20  Chelsea, of Clinton as well, or perhaps other areas

         21  further up in Manhattan. It is a particular moment

         22  now in the industry where we have a great

         23  opportunity to try and encourage them to go to the

         24  outer boroughs. I think some of those companies are

         25  being actively recruited now to go to places like
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          2  the great river center that was created by Coggswell

          3  and the Rudins, all the way out on Long Island.

          4  There is some talk about creating similar centers in

          5  Nassau. There is a center that is being advertised

          6  within the real estate section of the Times on

          7  Sunday, a couple of counties up to the north from

          8  here. So, there is a lot of other players who are

          9  looking at these companies as being very attractive,

         10  trying to get them to come to their locations. I

         11  think that the City now has a golden opportunity to

         12  try and attract those companies to relocate within

         13  New York.

         14                 As I was sitting here and Sharon was

         15  talking I was checking off her nine items, which I

         16  entirely agree with of what needs to be in place,

         17  and I think Long Island City has about seven of them

         18  already. We are looking to get about another two of

         19  them and I think that the reason why I have been

         20  there, it is the reason why I am actually now

         21  stepping down in about another month and a half in

         22  order to try and do this full time, because I

         23  believe it is possible to do that to create that

         24  kind of a center in Long Island City.

         25                 And I also would like to commend the

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            43

          1  ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT

          2  Council, they have now given funding to LIC BDC and

          3  CNED to study this concept of how to encourage the

          4  growth of the technology industries in Western

          5  Queens.

          6                 Thank you very much for providing

          7  that support and we will be reporting back to you

          8  again within a few months on our progress to date.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON O'DONOVAN: What are the

         10  other two that you don't have?

         11                 MR. KNIERIM: Well, the two that we

         12  don't have now are the infrastructure within the

         13  building. It is the key issue that we need to look

         14  at, in terms of as David mentioned, we have a stock

         15  of loft buildings that are not on the upper floors

         16  attractive now for industrial tenants. There is a

         17  very low vacancy rate, a very high demand for

         18  modern, smaller, single-story buildings, if you were

         19  to build it today you could rent it this afternoon.

         20  But the loft buildings historically don't have much

         21  of a market anymore. Manufacturers now would much

         22  prefer to be on the ground floor or in their own

         23  space. They don't want to have to deal with

         24  elevators, they don't want shared loading docks.

         25  However, to be able to renovate those buildings,
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          2  rewire them, we have in Long Island City, unlike in

          3  other neighborhoods, we have the fiberoptic capacity

          4  under the streets. We have the electrical capacity.

          5  I was speaking with a senior research and

          6  development person at Con Ed a few days ago and he

          7  said that Long Island City has better electric

          8  capacity than virtually any other place in the City,

          9  other than perhaps Brooklyn and parts of Manhattan,

         10  because it is right next to the plants in Astoria,

         11  the plants in Long Island City. There are so many

         12  things that exist now in Long Island City, what we

         13  need to do is to bring it the last couple of yards

         14  in the buildings.

         15                 One last point I will mention that

         16  David brought up is, I know that now the ICIP

         17  program, the Industrial and Commercial Incentive

         18  Program, which is one of the City's main ways of

         19  assisting development in the outer boroughs, it has

         20  historically had, I don't think it was intentional,

         21  but it has historically been biased against those

         22  very loft buildings which are most in need of

         23  assistance.

         24                 The way that program is now

         25  structured is you benefit from those tax incentives
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          2  by putting a certain percentage of work into that

          3  building, based on percentage of assessed value. It

          4  is very easy to do that if you have a small building

          5  that maybe is a 40,000 foot building, very easy to

          6  make that incentive threshold for when you have

          7  these large loft buildings like you have in

          8  Williamsburg, Greenpoint, Long Island City, other

          9  parts of Northern Manhattan, a very large building,

         10  if you had a 500,000 square foot building and you

         11  are renting 40,000 feet in it, it is very hard to

         12  put the amount of work in it that is necessary in

         13  order to qualify for those incentives, where if you

         14  rented 40,000 feet in a 40,000 foot building, it is

         15  very easy to do so.

         16                 So, since the ICIP program has come

         17  up for renewal now, I think it is an opportune time

         18  for the Council to see if it is possible to change

         19  that benefit so that there is a way of prorating it

         20  so that those loft buildings can also benefit as

         21  well.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON O'DONOVAN: Thank you very

         23  much. We will look into that.

         24                 MR. RUDES: Can I say something?

         25                 CHAIRPERSON O'DONOVAN: Yes, go ahead.
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          2                 MR. RUDES: First of all, I wanted to

          3  kind of address a question that Councilwoman

          4  Eldridge was asking about these facilities.

          5                 These are generally called executive

          6  suites. These facilities, the Forest Company, these

          7  are called executive suites types of facilities,

          8  they are prevalent in the real estate industry.

          9  Actually, they are not necessarily real estate, it

         10  is service business. You are not necessarily just

         11  renting the office, but you are renting the

         12  furniture, the secretarial, all the different

         13  services. Studies have shown that the true cost of

         14  that is about $85 a square foot. Now, that kind of

         15  works for a company who wants temporary facilities

         16  for six months, and maybe has two or three people,

         17  but once you get over a certain size and you are

         18  looking for some permanence, the economics go the

         19  other way.

         20                 Actually when we were looking at

         21  strategizing the development of the New York

         22  Information Technology Center, we wanted to put one

         23  of these facilities in the building. It is really

         24  your new 21st century kind of environment. In fact,

         25  we have looked at the executive suite places and 60
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          2  percent of all executive suite places are occupied

          3  by hi-tech companies, but it is only part of the

          4  answer.

          5                 The second point is, that when we

          6  originally came up with the concept of the New York

          7  information technology district and Silicon Alley

          8  and all of that, and we always thought of it as a

          9  regional thing, okay? It can't only be concentrated

         10  in one area. It is a huge, huge industry. I mean,

         11  the numbers are staggering as to the amount of

         12  people, what they predict, you know over the next

         13  several years. I think I read the Commerce

         14  Department's report that by 2006, 50 percent of all

         15  workers will be involved in the IT industry. Well,

         16  that might be throughout the country, but frankly, I

         17  think that number is probably a lot higher,

         18  considering New York kind of base, you know,

         19  economic base.

         20                 So, you really have to focus on the

         21  entire area. I think Long Island, Long Island City,

         22  all of the boroughs, Westchester, it is a whole

         23  regional kind of effort that has got to be focused.

         24                 And my last point is that when we

         25  looked at these types of developments throughout the
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          2  country, and frankly, when we create technology

          3  centers, we look at it as three types of things:

          4                 Number one, it is always important,

          5  low cost is very, very important but it is not the

          6  ultimate importance. Only in Montreal when they give

          7  them $15,000 per employee to move into real estate

          8  doesn't make any sense, but if you give them two,

          9  three dollars a square foot, the companies have

         10  other issues to deal with. So, low cost is

         11  important.

         12                 The second thing is community. This

         13  is a knowledge-based industry, they want to be with

         14  the other people, you know, one and one makes three,

         15  you bring back that old word synergy, so that

         16  community and what Sharon was talking about is

         17  supporting the community, is extremely, extremely

         18  important.

         19                 And the last piece is that they have

         20  to have real business reasons for being in a place,

         21  okay? I don't believe in the concept of build it and

         22  they will come. It worked in downtown Manhattan,

         23  because frankly, there were reasons why a lot of

         24  people wanted to be in downtown, frankly, many of

         25  them already were in downtown, we just kind of
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          2  introduced them to each other, and that critical

          3  mass that we created built more. So, you have that

          4  combination of things.

          5                 Incubate is great, accelerators,

          6  which is kind of a private form of an incubator are

          7  wonderful and that helps you establish the critical

          8  mass. University support. You have to create

          9  something in these boroughs that gives people a

         10  reason to go there. People aren't going to go there

         11  because they either have free rent or they have, you

         12  know, low rent. I am not even sure we want those

         13  people. We want to attract people who will stay

         14  there beyond the free rent period and help that

         15  industry grow.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON O'DONOVAN: Very good.

         17                 Yes, Councilwoman.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER ELDRIDGE: When you

         19  talked about the accelerator program and the

         20  incubator program and the need for the space, it

         21  reminds me of problems that we face in housing with

         22  the Mitchell Lamas, where they were intended in a

         23  way for temporary housing and you are supposed to

         24  move on so that we have to be careful I think to

         25  plan beyond the initial stage, but there has to be
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          2  some long-range planning. That is number one. And it

          3  would be nice to have that.

          4                 And the other point just before, I

          5  think the ICIPs point is very important.  As a not

          6  known great supporter of ICIP, especially south of

          7  96th Street, I would certainly be interested in

          8  seeing if we couldn't do something, and I wondered

          9  is it too late? Has it already been approved by the

         10  State?

         11                 MR. RUDES: No.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER ELDRIDGE: No. So that

         13  I think we should definitely, and I urge you to

         14  definitely look into that and see what we can do.

         15                 Thank you.

         16                 MR. RUDES: May I add one last thing?

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER ELDRIDGE: Sure.

         18                 MR. RUDES: The infrastructure that

         19  everybody is talking about, I think that much of

         20  that is greatly overestimated. Many of the people

         21  that we are talking about in the new media industry

         22  are looking for high speed Internet access, okay?

         23                 I mean, when we were planning the 55

         24  Broad Street Project, you know, what's advanced

         25  telecom? And I think it serves our purposes to tell
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          2  everybody it cost us $40 million to build the

          3  infrastructure. Well, frankly, you know, there are

          4  lots of ways of getting high speed Internet access,

          5  and it doesn't cost $40 million. And anybody who

          6  really needs some special super duper kind of

          7  infrastructure facility, either they can go to some

          8  other place that has it, because they are not the

          9  majority, or they are prepared to pay for it

         10  themselves. But satellite, cable TV, DSL service,

         11  ISDN, one way or another you can provide that,

         12  especially if you have the demand for it, it is not

         13  $40 million.

         14                 MS. WYLDE: Except you have to talk to

         15  the telecommunications providers, because they are

         16  Manhattan-centered.  They are very hesitant to go

         17  outside of Manhattan, it is very difficult for them

         18  to justify it with their business models and they

         19  don't like the idea of installation pains and going

         20  through layers of bureaucracy to get permission to

         21  do things, it makes it very costly and prohibitive

         22  for them, unless you work cooperatively with them

         23  from the get-go you will get resistance.

         24                 MR. KNIERIM: If I could, just one

         25  other comment on Councilwoman Eldridge's point, is
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          2  one thing I have often looked at, and the point was

          3  raised as well by what perhaps is the proper role of

          4  the private sector and the public sector in this, my

          5  sense as I have believed in the ten years I have

          6  been doing economic development is that the public

          7  sector's role is to really provide the

          8  infrastructure to perhaps act as a pump primer, and

          9  then essentially I think to step out of the way to

         10  the extent possible. I think that fits very much in

         11  what we need and I think it fit very much into the

         12  perspective of a lot of these technology companies.

         13                 For example, despite all of the work

         14  that we have done in Long Island City at LIC, BDC

         15  over the past 15 years, we have done an enormous

         16  amount, we have tried to do a great deal, but in the

         17  15 years we have spent a grand total of about $3

         18  million in all of our budget, combined over all of

         19  those years. That is less than the cost of a single

         20  moderate-sized loft building. So, the role of the

         21  not-for-profit sector, the role of the public sector

         22  I think is to act as the marketer, the cheerleader,

         23  make sure the infrastructure is there and then let

         24  the private sector come in because the private

         25  sector's resources, the private sector's activities

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            53

          1  ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT

          2  are absolutely necessary and absolutely dwarf (sic)

          3  what the public sector can and should put into

          4  something like this.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON O'DONOVAN: Okay, thank

          6  you.

          7                 Council Member Golden.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER GOLDEN: Thank you, Mr.

          9  Chair. Good afternoon, ladies and gentlemen.

         10                 Kathy, I came in late on your

         11  statement, I will kind of pick up on it. And I liked

         12  what you said, you know, build it and they will come

         13  and that doesn't necessarily happen. I have seen

         14  that happen in Red Hook, they had put plenty of

         15  money in there in the 1960s, '70s and '80s, and it

         16  didn't happen, and thank God that part of the

         17  community did bounce back, but in small

         18  manufacturing, small business, light manufacturing,

         19  some shipping, very little, and housing. But it

         20  definitely didn't do what it was intended to do, to

         21  create jobs and that is what we have to look to,

         22  looking into the economy, the way things are going.

         23  We have to look to create jobs in this City and keep

         24  people here, talented people.

         25                 While I am on that, Bush Terminal, is
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          2  there any incubator planned, or there is about a

          3  million square feet I understand that was available

          4  or is available?

          5                 MS. WYLDE: You are going to have to

          6  ask somebody from the City, not to my knowledge.

          7                 MR. KNIERIM: Yes, I am not aware.

          8                 MS. WYLDE: The last thing I heard was

          9  they were talking about RFP'g it.

         10                 MR. KNIERIM: Right.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER GOLDEN: I know my

         12  colleague Rodriguez, Council Member Rodriguez just

         13  stepped in and the other area is right on the end of

         14  the cusp of my district, but his district is the

         15  Brooklyn Army Terminal, we have a tremendous

         16  building there that is just sealed up and I know the

         17  money was withdrawn from the Economic Development to

         18  ready that for access. Is anybody working on that

         19  type of process at that building, or any type of

         20  incubator, or do you hear anything going on for

         21  that?

         22                 MR. RUDES: A lot of the questions

         23  have to do with transportation and so far the link

         24  between let's say Silicon Alley and Manhattan and

         25  Brooklyn hasn't really been made. People haven't
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          2  figured out that if they go to Brooklyn they will

          3  live. I mean, frankly, you talk to some of these

          4  technology companies and say, okay, we are going to

          5  pay you money to go to Brooklyn, and they say, well,

          6  but we have to be in Manhattan. The reason they have

          7  to be in Manhattan is prospective of being near

          8  business, being near the talents and pool of people,

          9  being near what they need. If it is not going to be

         10  in Manhattan, they might as well be in some other

         11  low cost part of the world.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON O'DONOVAN: Staten Island.

         13                 MR. RUDES: Yes. So, in order for it

         14  to happen, and it can happen, I really firmly

         15  believe it can happen, part of it is the economic

         16  push that companies are starting to feel the squeeze

         17  of not being able to afford any place in Manhattan,

         18  but the other part is really setting up the

         19  environment and business purpose for being there.

         20  Yes, if an incubator were there that would be great,

         21  so you have 12 people a year that would hopefully

         22  blossom into, you know, 24 people, et cetera, but

         23  you also need to establish some kind of business

         24  environment. I don't have that answer yet.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER GOLDEN: How does this
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          2  body, the City Council Committee, help you create

          3  that?

          4                 MR. RUDES: Well, I will tell you one

          5  other issue that is a problem, that somehow can be

          6  related here. The second generation companies we are

          7  having a problem with right now, it is nice to have

          8  companies come in with two, three, four, five-person

          9  offices, and we can lease them 1,000 feet, 2,000

         10  feet, 5,000 feet, especially when we prebuild it,

         11  but when they come back to us and say we have $10

         12  million now that we just got from some angel

         13  investor or something, and now we want to hire 100

         14  people, they want to lease 35,000 feet of space in a

         15  decent building. Now, that is a million dollars a

         16  year, minimum of ten-year lease, the landlord has

         17  got to put in at least $2 million, okay, and he

         18  looks at the guy and he says, well, you are going to

         19  have to give me between a million and two-million

         20  dollar letter of credit or security or cash from

         21  your investments for me to be able to do that. That

         22  is the problem. These guys haven't figured out yet

         23  how to deal with the security issues.

         24                 MR. WYLDE: And Teleport is a really

         25  good model of that. I mean when that happened we
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          2  couldn't figure out what they were doing, they were

          3  all crazy 20 years ago or whatever when the Port

          4  Authority was going to develop --

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER GOLDEN: Unbelievable,

          6  right?

          7                 MS. WYLDE: And look what came out of

          8  that, it has just been phenomenal.

          9                 I don't think anybody has looked

         10  seriously at a major research technology kind of

         11  focus, and it doesn't have to be all new built, it

         12  could be in-filled, but it does have to be targeted.

         13  I think what they are doing in Long Island City, I

         14  know what they talked about doing in Greenpoint and

         15  other areas, it really is going to take a target and

         16  a focus and some strategic planning, I know bad

         17  word, to bring this together. Because people assume,

         18  lay people assume, I was in a whole other industry,

         19  I assumed somebody was thinking about this stuff and

         20  planning it and networking - there is nothing going

         21  on except from out of the entrepreneurial community

         22  and increasing the landlords because they are

         23  frustrated because they see this market evaporating

         24  as folks go elsewhere where they can get space. And

         25  he is right on the second generation companies. We
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          2  have companies that are in exactly that same

          3  position where they are being asked for -- these are

          4  companies that are less than -- all of these

          5  companies, they are IPO'g it at billion dollar caps

          6  and they are less than three years old. None of them

          7  can get -- all of them have to put up a year's

          8  security deposit to get a floor in a building.

          9                 MR. RUDES: At least a year.

         10                 MS. WYLDE: It is an incredible

         11  situation, and this won't last forever and it

         12  certainly won't last if we don't capture it.

         13                 We have not done a good job in

         14  figuring out strategically how to compete with these

         15  other localities, including New Jersey, that are

         16  grabbing this opportunity, and basically they are

         17  not doing it by build and they will come, they are

         18  doing it by a very strategic marketing planning

         19  effort in partnership with the private sector.

         20                 MR. RUDES: Also they are doing it by

         21  default, because if I can't find what I want in New

         22  York, might as well go to New Jersey, what

         23  difference does it make?

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER GOLDEN: New York City

         25  versus the outer boroughs?
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          2                 MR. RUDES: There is a particular

          3  reason why people come to New York City, Manhattan,

          4  at the moment, and once they decide they can't

          5  afford that, then they can go almost anywhere.

          6                 MS. WYLDE: You have to look by

          7  sector, it is not true of all sectors. That is true

          8  of a portion of the content people and the new media

          9  and film industry that want to be in a certain

         10  place, but there is medical devices, there is

         11  software, there is a whole bunch of other different

         12  kind of industries, Telecom, that don't have to be

         13  and aren't looking to be in that same place, but

         14  they do have to have critical mass, but they do have

         15  to have 24/7, they do have to have the

         16  infrastructure.

         17                 MR. RUDES: If I may, I just want to

         18  add one thing.

         19                 MS. WYLDE: And transportation.

         20                 MR. RUDES: Sorry. Transportation is

         21  key, by the way.

         22                 I don't have the answer for Brooklyn,

         23  but I will give you part of the answer for Long

         24  Island City. I think you have the studios out there,

         25  right? You can play off of that, and give people
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          2  some real business reasons to develop that area of

          3  the industry, but that is the idea of developing

          4  business.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON O'DONOVAN: Why is

          6  transportation a key? I mean, you are in hi-tech

          7  industry, you just plug something in and you travel

          8  by the fiberoptic waves.

          9                 MR. KNIERIM: If I could, Council

         10  Member? Actually the point I was going to bring up

         11  is that transportation is absolutely critical

         12  because for nothing else, it is to bring your

         13  employees back and forth. It is a fundamental reason

         14  why, for example, so many companies of many

         15  different types currently, particularly industrial

         16  companies, like Long Island City and why Long Island

         17  City is so attractive is that it is very easy with

         18  the subway access, the Long Island Railroad access,

         19  the highway access, to come and go from a place like

         20  that, and I think that is something that is in

         21  almost any of these districts, people want to be

         22  able to get in and out easily.

         23                 The other point I was going to make,

         24  especially when it comes to Brooklyn, a place like

         25  Brooklyn Army Terminal, is that although perhaps I
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          2  would actually suggest that you discuss it with some

          3  of, or bring in, if they are not here. Some of our

          4  colleagues from other development corporations,

          5  Southwest Brooklyn, Sunset Park, both have very

          6  active groups, I know also the Brooklyn Chamber has

          7  been very active and could give some more

          8  information on that.

          9                 The last thing I would mention, and

         10  going back to again what the Council could do, I

         11  think part of what has to happen for these

         12  companies, because there does seem to be this

         13  enormous fear that the world is flat and that where

         14  you fall of is when you go and cross one of the two

         15  rivers to come out of Manhattan. People don't

         16  realize, many of them who are Manhattan-centric,

         17  don't realize how easy it is to get that Brooklyn,

         18  Borough Hall is one subway stop from City Hall, that

         19  Long Island City is one subway stop from Grand

         20  Central, I think a key role that the Council could

         21  play and that the Administration could play is on

         22  that marketing idea. I think the idea of getting

         23  that word out is absolutely critical, it is one of

         24  the things that we and the LDC community have tried

         25  to work with the Economic Development Corporation
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          2  on, is to try and have them do targeted marketing of

          3  each of the different areas of the City. We all get

          4  funded by EDC, we have a terrific working

          5  partnership with them, but in their marketing

          6  campaigns, they have to realize that you can't

          7  market the City as a whole, you have to really help

          8  to market those subdistricts.

          9                 So the very fact of hammering that

         10  point home that says that Brooklyn is one stop from

         11  Manhattan, Long Island City is one stop from

         12  Manhattan, Staten Island is a ferry ride away,

         13  whatever the case might be, make sure that word is

         14  out there.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON O'DONOVAN: Thank you very

         16  much.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER GOLDEN: Thank you.

         18                 The other thing I was looking at was

         19  Staten Island, that Home Port would make a great

         20  incubator. What is going on over there with an

         21  incubator, anything?

         22                 CHAIRPERSON O'DONOVAN: Well, the Home

         23  Port, we have RFPs out there, four of them so far

         24  with regard to the Home Port, and Home Port decision

         25  will be made very shortly on what goes into the Home
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          2  Port.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER GOLDEN: Thank you,

          4  sir.

          5                 Thank you, ladies and gentlemen.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON O'DONOVAN: We are joined

          7  by Council Member Rodriguez also of Brooklyn.

          8                 Thank you very much for your

          9  testimony.

         10                 Yes, one minute, please.

         11                 Yes, Councilwoman.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER ELDRIDGE: It wasn't so

         13  much as a comment, but I think that we should

         14  continue in this direction of hearings and that we

         15  most likely should speak with the City Planning

         16  Commission. I think the need for the strategic

         17  planning that Kathryn Wylde talked about and some

         18  master planning, we always react in this City so now

         19  we are into studio buildings for motion pictures,

         20  and I understand actually that motion picture

         21  productions has greatly declined in this City and we

         22  are not caught up with that. We are doing it so we

         23  don't want that to happen again and we need to

         24  really design something that makes some sense, so it

         25  would be interesting for us to have them come in and

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            64

          1  ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT

          2  talk about it.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON O'DONOVAN: That is

          4  exactly what we are doing here today. We have our

          5  staff here of Finance and our staff of Economic

          6  Development to listen to this testimony, and from

          7  their testimony we will be reaching out to the

          8  various City agencies with regard to this particular

          9  issue. You are absolutely right.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER ELDRIDGE: But it

         11  should fit into other issues. That is why it has to

         12  be a master plan and strategic planning because it

         13  also fits into the question of housing development,

         14  where we are going to give these abatements and

         15  incentives and why don't we do it with more

         16  targeting.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON O'DONOVAN: So you are now

         18  an advocate --

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER ELDRIDGE: No more west

         20  side.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON O'DONOVAN: I am happy to

         22  see my colleague from Manhattan is a great advocate

         23  now of incentives and tax abatements. I say that

         24  jokingly.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER ELDRIDGE: I always
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          2  have supported the ICIP outside of, except for south

          3  of 96th Street.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON O'DONOVAN: I know.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER ELDRIDGE: And I

          6  certainly would continue to support 421-A and all of

          7  that. I don't think we need 421-A at the Coliseum

          8  and Columbus Circle, so I think if we used some of

          9  these distinctions we would do better, that's all.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON O'DONOVAN: Thank you.

         11                 Thank you.

         12                 MR. KNIERIM: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON O'DONOVAN: Ben Segal,

         14  David Hochman, and Bruce Bernstein.

         15                 Gentlemen, why don't we start from

         16  your right and my left.

         17                 MR. BERNSTEIN: Thank you very much,

         18  Mr. Chairman. My name is Bruce Bernstein, I am the

         19  President of the New York Software Industry

         20  Association, and I am very pleased to be here.

         21                 New York Software Industry

         22  Association has over 200 companies. We are a trade

         23  association. The vast majority of our companies are

         24  software and information and technology companies.

         25  We have large companies, such as IBM and information
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          2  builders, which are two of the 50 largest software

          3  companies in the world. We also have, the majority

          4  of our companies are smaller companies. You heard

          5  from two of our board members earlier today, Toni

          6  Molodowitz and Steve Forte, we are both NYSIA Board

          7  members. Actually as well as Sharon Greenberger.

          8                 I am going to talk to you a little

          9  bit about, and it is very hot so I want to try to

         10  make it as quickly as possible.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON O'DONOVAN: Thank you very

         12  much. We appreciate it.

         13                 MR. BERNSTEIN: You are welcome.

         14                 I guess my starting point is I do

         15  think rents are important. I think that rents have

         16  -- we have had tremendous growth in software and

         17  information technology in this City, I think

         18  everybody is probably seeing the Comptroller's

         19  report, we were very involved in getting that out,

         20  and there are now 3,000 companies in our sector in

         21  New York City, 3,013 in 1997, representing about

         22  29,550 jobs. The Comptroller was very kind in doing

         23  this, and he finally gave us some real numbers that

         24  we can base everything on. There has been 84 percent

         25  growth in the number of companies since 1992 and 106
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          2  percent growth in the number of jobs since 1992. We

          3  are averaging about 15 percent growth per year in

          4  this sector. The majority of it, I would say the

          5  vast majority of it, although not all of it, is in

          6  Manhattan.

          7                 On the other hand, I think this is,

          8  and we now are in one of the first ranks in terms of

          9  region in this industry. We are not where Silicon

         10  Valley is, and we have to remember we are competing

         11  not against necessarily New Jersey, or the boroughs

         12  aren't competing against each other, but we are

         13  competing against the other leading regions, such as

         14  Boston, Seattle, Silicon Valley, and other areas

         15  that are -- everybody is going after this industry,

         16  we lose companies to Tucson, as well as New Jersey.

         17                 New York is now in one of the leading

         18  regions in this industry. We are not at the level of

         19  Silicon Valley and Boston, but we are right at the

         20  second rank, we are about the same as Seattle, Los

         21  Angeles and Chicago, and we are actually growing

         22  faster at this point. And that is just New York

         23  City. New York State is actually I think second or

         24  third in the country in terms of jobs in this

         25  industry.
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          2                 The industry, one of the major

          3  threats to this industry, however, is the rise in

          4  rents. You quoted some figures, I think your figures

          5  were right, you quoted them right at the beginning

          6  of the meeting. The figures I have from Insignia

          7  report on the office rental market January 1999,

          8  showed a 36 percent in one year increase in the

          9  Midtown South area, which is Flat Iron, a 21 percent

         10  one year increase downtown, and a 22 percent one

         11  year increase in Midtown, including the garment

         12  center area. Our companies do use loft buildings.

         13                 The downtown area which was formerly

         14  affordable is now started to get into the

         15  mid-twenties. Actually NYSIA's rent, anecdotally my

         16  office and the headquarters of NYSIA, which is

         17  located in Flat Iron, our lease is expiring. When we

         18  first got in there we were at $15 per square foot,

         19  now they are raising it to 26, which is outside of

         20  our, slightly outside of what we can afford to say

         21  and I think it is the same for many of the small

         22  companies.

         23                 The issue with rents is very

         24  important because of the marginal costs in New York

         25  City. We are competing against other regions. It is
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          2  more expensive to do business in New York City, but

          3  if a company is going to stay here, the question is

          4  how much more expensive. Everybody gives, it is a

          5  given that you are going to pay more in New York. If

          6  the costs were the same, New York is extremely

          7  competitive, if the cost is ten percent more, New

          8  York, in my opinion, is still extremely competitive.

          9  If the costs are 20 percent more, is New York still

         10  competitive? I am not sure. If the costs are

         11  becoming 50 percent more and 60 percent more than

         12  Tucson or Chicago or some of the places where these

         13  companies can go, then New York starts becoming much

         14  less competitive.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON O'DONOVAN: You are

         16  familiar with the economic development zones we have

         17  throughout the City, right?

         18                 MR. BERNSTEIN: Yes, somewhat

         19  familiar.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON O'DONOVAN: Downtown

         21  Alliance?

         22                 MR. BERNSTEIN: I am familiar with the

         23  Downtown Alliance, correct.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON O'DONOVAN: There you have

         25  a tax benefit, energy tax credits, you are saying it
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          2  is not enough? You want more? I mean, everybody

          3  always wants more, I mean it is a business, but we

          4  do have various ways of taking care of business as

          5  far as the tax relief and other relief is concerned,

          6  and I mean you might have to move to another borough

          7  to get it but your particular industry I think will

          8  afford to do it.

          9                 MR. BERNSTEIN: We are not against the

         10  issue of -- I am testifying in favor of economic

         11  development zones in the outer boroughs.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON O'DONOVAN: Yes.

         13                 MR. BERNSTEIN: Your downtown

         14  development zone has been a tremendous success. What

         15  is happening there now is it is starting to, the

         16  rents there now are starting to go up and the

         17  buildings are starting to become full. There is just

         18  not as much space down there and at this point, yes,

         19  it is not enough, quite frankly.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON O'DONOVAN: Okay, go

         21  ahead. I get your message. Continue.

         22                 MR. BERNSTEIN: There is a clustering

         23  phenomena which does take place and I think that any

         24  planned strategy for retention and growth has to

         25  identify certain clusters. One of the things we are
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          2  advocating is the idea of hi-tech zones outside of

          3  the central business district.

          4                 We would like -- I think some

          5  possible areas are the area that we talked about

          6  earlier in, you know, past the Upper West Side, past

          7  125th Street. I think possibly Long Island City is a

          8  possible area, downtown Brooklyn is a possible area,

          9  Delancy Street area on the Lower East Side is

         10  another possible area. These are areas where there

         11  is loft space or possibly new loft space can be

         12  brought onto the market and rents can remain low.

         13                 I do think that any incentives that

         14  are provided in these areas have to be tied to low

         15  rent, and have to be tied to low rent going down the

         16  line. I think we would use the Mitchell Lama Program

         17  as some sort of model. The different types of

         18  incentives that can be looked at, one is obviously

         19  the sort of incentives that were offered downtown,

         20  including property tax abatements, they are then

         21  passed on to the tenants. Also incentives to get the

         22  wiring done. I don't agree that that infrastructure

         23  is not an issue, especially -- electricity I think

         24  is almost not an issue, but I think telephone

         25  infrastructure and bandwidth (phonetic) is a big
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          2  issue, and it is not just a question of is it there,

          3  it is also the question of how much it costs.

          4                 For example, ISDN access (phonetic)

          5  at this point is almost the same as our rent, so I

          6  would say for most companies, either than payroll

          7  and rent, telephone access, high bandwidth, whether

          8  it be T1 ISDN or TSL, is a major part of the cost

          9  structure, and that has to be addressed.

         10                 Finally, I do think incubators are

         11  important and I think that they should be -- we

         12  don't just use the term incubators, we use the term

         13  incubators and accelerators, because a lot of the

         14  companies don't necessarily need the services that

         15  are offered in the incubators, but they need

         16  basically to be around other companies and they need

         17  the low cost space.

         18                 I think that it is very helpful to

         19  look at partnerships with universities and

         20  not-for-profits in terms of the incubators. We were

         21  down with Brooklyn Poly President Dr. David Chang

         22  the other day, and they are very interested in doing

         23  an incubator, an incubator/accelerator for software

         24  information technology companies in downtown

         25  Brooklyn. That is a very good sort of partnership
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          2  with the University. Being close to research, as

          3  well as being close to other companies is a very

          4  important criteria.

          5                 Thank you very much.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON O'DONOVAN: Thank you.

          7                 MR. SEGAL: Good afternoon. My name is

          8  Ben Segal. I am the Director of Technology

          9  Entrepreneurship at the Industrial Technology

         10  Assistance Corporation, which is the other Economic

         11  Development Corporation, a private, not-for-profit,

         12  Economic Development Corporation supported by the

         13  city, state and federal government. Our mission is

         14  to improve the economy of the City and we do this by

         15  providing one-on-one technical assistance to

         16  manufacturers to improve their performance and by

         17  stimulating growth of advanced technology start-ups

         18  that are Citywide.

         19                 I promise to be brief.

         20                 Six months ago we began work on an

         21  initiative funded by the City Council and

         22  administered through the New York City Economic

         23  Development Corporation. We were asked to develop a

         24  program or office that would encourage more tech

         25  transfers to occur all throughout the City.
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          2                 As we began to explore this, it was

          3  apparent that transforming University-based R&D into

          4  local jobs would require a broader strategy, the

          5  kind of strategy that Kathy Wylde talked about

          6  earlier. So we expanded the scope of the project to

          7  create a comprehensive strategic framework for

          8  technology-based economic development.

          9                 Then we began looking for a

         10  consulting resourced with expertise and resources

         11  that could accomplish this large task.

         12                 Everything and everyone we spoke to

         13  pointed to Battelle Memorial Institute, and in

         14  particular their technology partnership practice

         15  which is a public policy consulting arm

         16  headquartered in Cleveland, Ohio, and their staffed

         17  with experienced practitioners in the art of

         18  technology-based economic development. Their vice

         19  president Walt Plosila created and ran several of

         20  the nation's largest and best regarded technology

         21  and business programs in Pennsylvania, the Ben

         22  Franklin Center, the Maryland Hi-Tech Council, and

         23  also in North Carolina.

         24                 David Hochman, the Battelle

         25  consultant who is with me today, is now based in New
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          2  York City and spent nearly a decade helping lead

          3  State of New Jersey's Science and Tech Commission.

          4  Now he is on the good side.

          5                 We basically for six months have

          6  worked intensively on the project. We conducted a

          7  lot of secondary research and primary research on

          8  employment trends, working with DOL data and doing

          9  all sorts of shift share analysis and location

         10  quotations to identify key sectors to target.

         11                 We prepared a series of background

         12  papers, then we tested them against dozens of

         13  industry leaders, through seven focus group sessions

         14  and many of the people we heard from today were

         15  involved in the process.

         16                 We also had about 30 personal

         17  interviews with technology entrepreneurs and

         18  business service providers, intermediary

         19  organizations, academic, economic developers and

         20  government officials. And without a doubt we have

         21  really spoken with a lot of your constituents as we

         22  built an understanding of what is working here in

         23  the City and what needs further refinement and

         24  improvement.

         25                 Also, one of these documents was
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          2  benchmarking New York against our competitive

          3  regions like Los Angeles and Chicago which has

          4  similar industrial basis, and other smaller cities

          5  that are aggressively targeting hi-tech companies.

          6  We prepared a strengths, weaknesses, Opportunities

          7  and Threats analysis, or SWOT, to use as a key

          8  discussion tool and I brought copies of that to

          9  share with all of you today.

         10                 By looking at our strengths and

         11  weaknesses, we sought to uncover opportunities for

         12  public and private sector interventions. Over and

         13  over we heard the same weaknesses and issues coming

         14  up, infrastructure, real estate, bandwidth, finding

         15  skilled workers and access to high risk capital.

         16                 In particular, which is relevant to

         17  the hearing today, we tested the following

         18  hypothesis, that the bloom and bust nature of the

         19  commercial real estate cycles in the City means that

         20  the market is either overheated or recovering from

         21  overbuilding. As a result it is difficult to

         22  overcome the market risk to develop incubator space

         23  and affordable space.

         24                 Firms in the innovation sectors are

         25  therefore dispersed into marginal markets with no
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          2  central place or neighborhoods for these firms to

          3  concentrate, network and grow.

          4                 In response to this we heard a number

          5  of reactions from hi-tech companies, and some of the

          6  comments included exactly what we heard earlier.

          7  Software firms don't realize that Borough Hall is

          8  one stop from Bowling Green and Grand Central and

          9  Long Island City are one stop apart, and we should

         10  look into developing hi-tech districts within one to

         11  two stops of Manhattan on the subway.

         12                 One prominent developer said we can't

         13  go at it alone when referring to Long Island City

         14  and he felt that too much infrastructure needed to

         15  be put in place, and there had to be this

         16  coordinated public initiative.

         17                 Another interviewee added that tax

         18  incentives should be used to develop the boroughs,

         19  and this is a prominent journalist that we all would

         20  have heard of.

         21                 Somebody else said open facilities in

         22  Brooklyn and Long Island City and use the Business

         23  Improvement Districts to replicate the success of

         24  the Plug-N-Go Program. Right now Battelle and ITAC

         25  are in the process of reviewing all of the learning
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          2  from this very big project, and boiling down the

          3  analysis and we look forward to giving Council a

          4  more detailed report in the late summer, early fall,

          5  when we plan on finishing it.

          6                 Thank you very much.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON O'DONOVAN: We look

          8  forward to accepting that report.

          9                 Thank you.

         10                 MR. HOCHMAN: Good afternoon, Mr.

         11  Chairman, members of the Committee. My name is David

         12  Hochman, I am a principal consultant with the

         13  technology partnership practice at Battelle, which

         14  Ben Described. We have retained by ITAC to help

         15  craft a strategy by which the City can improve its

         16  results in technology-based economic development,

         17  and it is a topic in which I have a great deal of

         18  personal interest, in addition to my work for the

         19  State of New Jersey. I am also a New York City

         20  Native who started up a media-oriented software

         21  company here way back in the early 1980s before it

         22  was fashionable.

         23                 We started the project with a working

         24  hypothesis that the non-Manhattan boroughs do

         25  represent and underused asset for the City as it
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          2  attempts to adapt itself to the needs and

          3  requirements of the so-called new economy, and I

          4  hope you will be pleased to learn that this

          5  hypothesis was validated most strongly.

          6                 Today we have heard some specific

          7  ideas from organizations that are active in the

          8  boroughs and I will confine myself to some general

          9  remarks.

         10                 It is really the old good news/bad

         11  news story.

         12                 The good news is the City already has

         13  several vigorous high technology sectors, and not

         14  just new media. The bad news is the success comes at

         15  the same time as these small firms customers, the

         16  leaders in financial services and business services,

         17  advertising and publishing, were themselves thriving

         18  as never before and all competing for Manhattan real

         19  estate.

         20                 Repeatedly entrepreneurs, financiers

         21  and other knowledgeable players told us that these

         22  growing firms are hitting the wall. Just as their

         23  space needs rise, just as the Internet moves from

         24  being an elite toy to a real engine of commerce,

         25  just as requirements for back office space come on
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          2  line, just as all of these promising developments

          3  are occurring, the prospect of finding the space at

          4  affordable prices in Manhattan have vanished

          5  completely.

          6                 Very soon the City could be a victim

          7  of its own success as the best crop of technology

          8  entrepreneurs decide they can live with a name plate

          9  in Manhattan but back offices in the suburbs, that

         10  would be a catastrophe for future prospects for the

         11  next wave of technology growth sectors.

         12                 This is the context in which the role

         13  of the boroughs becomes clear. The boroughs are not

         14  just bedroom communities, they bring very specific

         15  commercial real estate assets to the table. Both

         16  downtown Brooklyn and Long Island City, Queens,

         17  offer affordable development sites that are only one

         18  or two subway stops away, as several people have

         19  observed, from the central business district where

         20  the entrepreneur's key customers are found. These

         21  locations are every bit as credible as Hoboken,

         22  Jersey City, and the other North Jersey gold coast

         23  communities that continue to siphon sophisticated

         24  jobs away from the City.

         25                 Moreover, both Staten Island and the
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          2  Northeast Bronx offer specific development

          3  opportunities on sites that might appeal to sectors

          4  less interested in proximity to the central business

          5  district customers and more interested in a

          6  suburban-style corporate campus that is also close

          7  to residential communities.

          8                 So, if these assets are important,

          9  why hasn't development happened in the free market

         10  on its own? And the answer lies in the complex

         11  relationship between real estate development and

         12  government that plays out in any large City.

         13  Developers will not build unless assured a market,

         14  because otherwise banks will not lend the money.

         15  Tenants, particularly technology start-ups that need

         16  to minimize the hassle factor so they can focus on

         17  building their business will not take the risk of

         18  being first, unless the space is already there and

         19  filling up with companies they regard as their peers

         20  and competitors. And the key telecommunications

         21  providers will not guarantee quick and responsive

         22  connectivity to high bandwidth telecom pipes unless

         23  they know the market is there.

         24                 Now, the way this dilemma gets solved

         25  in any large community I am familiar with is by some
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          2  form of government leadership, but not necessarily

          3  heavy-handed or expensive intervention.

          4                 For example, it is widely agreed that

          5  one of the most successful technology programs has

          6  been Plug-N-Go, an inexpensive cooperative program

          7  between the EDC, the Alliance for Downtown New York

          8  and downtown landlords.

          9                 In talking about the success of this

         10  program with a wide variety of actors, we came to a

         11  key realization, while a similar program might be

         12  quite effective, for example, in downtown Brooklyn,

         13  along the Livingston, Schimmerhorn, State Street

         14  commercial corridors, no one has a mandate to extend

         15  it there. The Alliance couldn't possibly do so, it

         16  must focus on the interests of its assessed BID

         17  members.

         18                 There would seem to be a role for

         19  City government in authorizing one or more

         20  intermediary organizations to replicate the program

         21  in the boroughs, and in our opinion this must be

         22  done now while the demand is still there and while

         23  owners are still receptive.

         24                 In any case, as you consider the

         25  proposals you hear today, I would like to highlight
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          2  several general points:

          3                 First, resources should be

          4  concentrated on the one neighborhood or project in

          5  each borough most likely to succeed.

          6                 Setting a precedent of success at

          7  modest cost will leverage a great deal more private

          8  investment than the City could ever make on a

          9  boroughwide basis.

         10                 Second, strong support is required

         11  from borough political and business leadership to

         12  give owners, developers and tenants the confidence

         13  to proceed. Mixed messages or uncertain support will

         14  drive away those who cannot afford the risk of less

         15  than full support.

         16                 Third, it is desirable to involve

         17  deeply in these projects institutions of higher

         18  education, as Bruce Bernstein just told you, as

         19  sources of trained labor, as sources of technology

         20  and as sponsors as business incubators and

         21  accelerators.

         22                 Fourth, an intermediary organization

         23  like a Chamber of Commerce or Local Development

         24  Corporation is required to mesh the different

         25  cultures of technology entrepreneurship,
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          2  government-based economic development groups,

          3  colleges and universities, and real estate

          4  developers and owners.

          5                 Fifth, it will be critical to involve

          6  early on all key telecommunications providers as a

          7  way of anticipating and meeting the objections that

          8  non-Manhattan locations will never receive top

          9  quality telecom service.

         10                 Six, and finally, plans should be

         11  drawn so as to meet the needs of all technology

         12  sectors so that the interest of these various

         13  sectors are united rather than isolated.

         14                 Depending on Land Use constraints,

         15  new media or software information technology back

         16  office space should be accompanied by efforts to

         17  develop space suitable for biotechnology, or

         18  material science wet labs or for high value added

         19  technology manufacturing. Some mixture is possible

         20  in every one of the boroughs.

         21                 Before closing, I want to emphasize

         22  that again and again we were told that young people

         23  now want to live in New York. That makes this a

         24  critical moment in time to act to ensure that

         25  dynamic entrepreneurs have an option to build their
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          2  companies where rents are affordable, where

          3  customers are accessible and where their employees

          4  can choose from a variety of urban or suburban

          5  neighborhoods to meet their needs.

          6                 The boroughs can play a key role in

          7  this equation, but a concentrated and coordinated

          8  effort is required to promote the pace-setting

          9  developments that will change the perception of the

         10  role of the boroughs.

         11                 I want to thank the Council and the

         12  City and State Administrations for their support in

         13  our work for ITAC, and I would be pleased to answer

         14  any questions.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON O'DONOVAN: Thank you.

         16  Thank you, gentlemen, for your report, interesting

         17  report on an interesting issue, an issue that the

         18  Council believes, as we have heard in testimony,

         19  that these new emerging hi-tech industries really

         20  have a spot of their own in the economy. We have

         21  addressed it. We have taken tours of Silicon Alley,

         22  this Committee has in fact, and to see that it is

         23  expanding only 15 percent of all of your space

         24  downtown or Downtown Alliance where Silicon Alley is

         25  is left vacant and they are moving to sell that too.
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          2  So, the ever-expanding process here is something

          3  that is of concern to us. We don't want them to go

          4  to New Jersey. We would rather have them, if you

          5  want to talk about moving out of Manhattan, let them

          6  go to Staten Island or Brooklyn or the Bronx or

          7  Queens. And the staff is here, the Economic

          8  Development and the Finance staff put this hearing

          9  together for us, the Council members on this issue,

         10  and so all of the different and various aspects of

         11  it that we heard from you is taken into account, we

         12  will revisit this issue again. We are interested in

         13  your final report, so we can move forward and

         14  perhaps put a package together where we can

         15  specifically address incentives, specific incentives

         16  that deal with this particular industry. And so I

         17  thank you all, each and every one of you, for coming

         18  here today.

         19                 Before I close, Councilman Rodriguez

         20  has a question. Councilman.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER RODRIGUEZ: You

         22  suggested that, and I don't remember which one, or

         23  maybe it was all three of you, that the areas for, I

         24  guess the best areas in the boroughs, and I will

         25  talk about Brooklyn in particular, was the downtown
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          2  area. How about the old industrial areas that have

          3  the giant buildings; do you think they could be

          4  worked on to be able to fulfill this need?

          5                 MR. SEGAL: Well, I agree with what

          6  people said earlier about multi-story loft buildings

          7  being more attractive right now for redevelopment

          8  for more information, inventive uses, as opposed to

          9  traditional manufacturing which are looking for

         10  single story, large footprint buildings with lots of

         11  bays that aren't shared. So, I would have to agree

         12  that there is some promise in reusing them this way.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER RODRIGUEZ: The

         14  Brooklyn Waterfront, which has a lot of those tall

         15  buildings, four, five, six, seven-story buildings,

         16  those are the ones you are referring to when you say

         17  those can easily be converted?

         18                 MR. BERNSTEIN: From a pure space

         19  issue they could work. The issue in my mind is

         20  clustering. I do think I agree with David that you

         21  have to target incentive, and have a targeted

         22  development plan.

         23                 I want to clarify my remarks on

         24  incentives. We think incentives should be targeted

         25  into certain geographic areas, and then they would
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          2  work, similar to the incentives granted in Lower

          3  Manhattan.

          4                 My feeling, and I realize this might

          5  not be the politic thing to say, but we did explore

          6  this. We looked at little at Brooklyn, originally we

          7  were thinking about something like what you said,

          8  either the areas in Sunset Park area or possibly

          9  Williamsburg. After discussions with Dr. Chang and

         10  his staff at Brooklyn Poly, and after discussions

         11  with the Brooklyn Chamber of Commerce, we are

         12  convinced that downtown Brooklyn is the correct

         13  place for targeting information, technology and

         14  software for a variety of reasons, one of which --

         15  it is just perfect in terms of acceptability in

         16  Manhattan, which is a big issue, and it is also --

         17  the presence of Brooklyn Poly and their desire to

         18  put up an incubator I think is a big deal.

         19                 I think what you can do, and we have

         20  gotten this pressure from the Bronx also when we

         21  went upstate with this proposal, people from the

         22  Bronx said, well, what about the Bronx? Which is

         23  valid. I think all of these things are valid. And I

         24  think in your districts you want to get jobs into

         25  the growing information technology area, and I think
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          2  what makes sense in some of the areas that you are

          3  talking about is the state and city to put together

          4  some funding to put training programs into those

          5  areas. And the training programs are big and they

          6  can go into the loft buildings and make sure that

          7  the people who live in those districts are trained

          8  to get into the information technology, to get into

          9  the burgeoning industry.

         10                 I think it might be, my gut is it is

         11  a mistake at this point to target something that far

         12  off and that difficult as, you know, if you have the

         13  choice of three or four clusters, my gut is make it

         14  downtown Brooklyn.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER RODRIGUEZ: The reason

         16  I ask the question is because, at least the

         17  waterfront areas, they have a high concentration of

         18  City-owned property, and so maybe the City can make

         19  the capital investments necessary to make these

         20  properties really affordable to the start-up

         21  companies, to the smaller companies or even to the

         22  second level companies. Were you the group that was

         23  addressing the second -- no, the group before you,

         24  right? Even to the second level companies which need

         25  35,000 square feet or 40,000 square feet, and if the

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            90

          1  ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT

          2  City makes a commitment to do the infrastructure

          3  work, which I would assume is the most expensive

          4  work, then we may have the ability to cluster some

          5  of these together; does that make any sense, or am I

          6  kind of like --

          7                 MR. BERNSTEIN: I think it might be

          8  conceivable to get a larger company there. I know

          9  Double Click, they just made a deal with the City,

         10  but they were looking at New Jersey. If you are

         11  looking at New Jersey, I think the waterfront in

         12  Brooklyn is same and might even have some

         13  advantages, but then it becomes almost purely in my

         14  mind a cost issue. From the point of view of getting

         15  hundreds and hundreds of small companies, which is

         16  what they have done successfully in downtown

         17  Manhattan, that was the success in downtown

         18  Manhattan, from that point of view I think it is a

         19  heavier lift by an order of magnitude to get it

         20  further down the Brooklyn Waterfront than downtown

         21  Brooklyn.

         22                 I honestly don't know about Long

         23  Island City, I don't have an opinion on that.

         24                 I tend to think the area that the

         25  young lady was talking about in upper Manhattan
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          2  might be pretty good, because of the presence of

          3  Columbia and City College and the type of buildings

          4  that are necessary, and it is reachable. So, I think

          5  there is a wide variety of areas.

          6                 But I would also, in terms of

          7  economic development, look really seriously at the

          8  training angle, because that is just as important as

          9  getting people into those jobs, and that can be a

         10  huge boon for some of the areas you are talking

         11  about, and also can rent affordable space.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER RODRIGUEZ: What do you

         13  mean by training angle? Tell me what you are talking

         14  about?

         15                 MR. BERNSTEIN: Bronx Community

         16  College right now got a $750,000 grant from the feds

         17  to train people in Windows, NT, administration, I

         18  think they are doing web development, and these are

         19  displaced workers they are training. It takes up

         20  space, it is rentable space, they are training

         21  people, they have certain criteria, and I think the

         22  average age of the people in the program is 30 years

         23  old, they are reaching out to us to set up an

         24  internship with these people.

         25                 I think there is a huge need in the
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          2  industry for personnel, and some of these areas you

          3  are not necessarily going to get, you know, 20, 30,

          4  40 companies to move right away, or you are not

          5  going to get entrepreneurs to start companies, but

          6  you can set up training programs that could be

          7  private, public, both, not-for-profit, all three,

          8  that go into these places and are hooked up with

          9  Bronx Community College or in your area, some other

         10  colleges and whatnot, and can feed people into the

         11  industry from some of the areas, from some of the

         12  economically depressed areas. It is just as big an

         13  economic boon as getting the companies there

         14  themselves, and I think you can craft, it is

         15  possible to craft legislation that ties some of the

         16  incentives and targeted actual zone development with

         17  some training programs and address those issues.

         18                 I would not discount your idea of

         19  getting a large company that is, you know, in the

         20  market for space and they can't find it in

         21  Manhattan, 35,000 square feet, boom, you bring them

         22  down to the Brooklyn Waterfront. I think that is

         23  valid.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER RODRIGUEZ: Okay.

         25                 Thank you, Mr. Chair.

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            93

          1  ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT

          2                 MR. SEGAL: I would like to emphasize

          3  what Bruce said and offer the DVRCF group down in

          4  Philadelphia as a model program. It was a non-profit

          5  sponsored venture fund that has about $10 million in

          6  it and it was set up and every investment is tied to

          7  a workforce training program.

          8                 Part of our study is going to look at

          9  best practices around the nation, and I hope that

         10  will highlight some of the ways of linking up the

         11  financing initiatives for seed capital with space

         12  with employment and training and offer some insight

         13  into how we can get all of these pieces moving

         14  together.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER RODRIGUEZ: Thank you.

         16                 Thank you, Mr. Chair.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON O'DONOVAN: Thank you very

         18  much. Again, it is a very interesting issue, an

         19  interesting hearing. We will be getting back to you.

         20  We will address this issue again and we will move

         21  forward.

         22                 Thank you.

         23                 This hearing is adjourned.

         24                 (Hearing concluded at 2:40 p.m.)
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